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8 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

9 FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 October 2015 Grand Jury 

C R7 6 0407 11 · ·UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

12 Plaintiff, 

13 v. 

14 NICK NIKBAKHT, 
aka "Sasan Nikbakht," 

15 aka "Sam Nikbakht," 
SHAWN CHAIT, and 

16 OGANES DOGANYAN, 
aki?- "Hovik Doganyan," 

1 7 aka "John Doganyan," 

18 Defendants. 

:L9 

20 The Grand Jury charges: 

CR No. 16-

I N D I C T M E N T 

[18.U.S.C. § 1341: Mail Fraud; 
18 u.s.c. § 1956(h): Conspiracy to 
Commit Money Laundering; 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1956 (a) (1) (B) (i) : Money 
Laundering; 18 U.S.C. § 1957: 
Engaging in Monetary Transactions 
Involving Property Derived from 
Specified Unlawful Conduct; 18 
u.s.c. § 2: Aiding and Abetting 
and Causing an Act to be Done] 

21 COUNTS ONE THROUGH TWENTY 

22 [18 u.s.c. §§ 1341, 2] 

23 A. INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS 

24 1. At all times relevant to this Indictment, Diagnostic Care, 

25 Inc. ("Diagnostic Care") , Nova Diagnostic,' Inc. ("Nova Diagnostic") , 

26 Nova Sleep Lab, Inc. ("Nova Sleep")., Relax Sleep Lab, Inc. ("Relax 

27 Sleep"), Siraf, Inc. ("Siraf"), Sleep Well Sleep Center, Inc. ("Sleep 

28 Well") , Unicare Sleep Center, Inc. ( "Unicare") , and Wellcare Sleep 
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1 Center, Inc. ( "Wellcare") (collectively the "Diagnostic 

2 Corporations"), were corporations created through filings with the 

3 California Secretary of State that were located in Los Angeles 

4 County, within the Central District of California, and were used to 

5 bill private health insurance plans for diagnostic medical services, 

6 including in particular sleep studies and nerve conduction velocity 

7 ("NCV") studies. 

8 2. At all times relevant to this Indictment, defendants NICK 

9 NIKBAKHT, also known as ("aka") "Sasan Nikbakht," aka "Sam Nikbakht" 

10 ( "NIKBAKHT") , SHAWN CHAIT (".CHAIT") , and OGANES DOGANYAN, aka "Hovik 

11 Doganyan," aka "John Doganyan". ( "DOGANYAN") were residents of Los 

12 Angeles County, within the Central District of C~lifornia. 

13 Defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN owned and controlled the 

14 Diagnostic Corporations and recruited.and paid and caused others to 

15 recruit and pay individuals covered by private health insurance plans 

16 to undergo, at facilities controlled and operated by defendants 

17 NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN, diagnostic medical services, including 

18 in particular sleep and NCV studies, for which defendants NIKBAKHT, 

19 CHAIT, and DOGANYAN caused the Diagnostic Corporations to bill the 

20 private health insurance plans. 

21 3. At all times relevant to this Indictment: 

22 a. The International Longshore and Warehouse Union, 

23 formerly known as the International Longshoremen's and Warehousemen's 

24 Union ("ILWU"), together with various ILWU locals in different port 

25 locations, represented dock workers at ports on.the West Coast of the 

26 United States, including at the ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach, 

27 within the Central District of California. 

28 

2 
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1 b. The Pacific Maritime Association ("PMA") represented 

2 member organizations involved in the shipping industry and arranged 

3 on their behalf for the hiring of dock workers at ports on the West 

4 Coast of the United States, including at the ports of Los Angeles and 

5 Long Beach, within the Central District of California. 

6 c. The International Longshore and Warehouse Union -

7 ·Pacific Maritime Association Welfare Plan (the "ILWU-PMA Welfare 

8 Plan") was a benefit plan, established by agreement between the ILWU 

9 and PMA and affecting commerce, that provided a variety of benefits, 

10 including health care benefits, to eligible active and retired ILWU 

11 members and their qualified dependents and survivors. Eligible 

12 recipients of health care benefits unqer the ILWU-PMA Welfare Plan 

13 had an annual choice to have those benefits provided through either a 

14 Heal th Maintenance Organization ("HMO") or a self -funded program 

15 that, effective July 1, 2000, was the ILWU-PMA Welfare Plan Self-

16 Funded Programs Coastwise Indemnity Plan (the "ILWU-PMA Plan"). The 

17 ILWU-PMA Plan was funded almost entirely by the PMA. 

18 d. The ILWU-PMA Plan reimbursed providers of medical 

19 services, including physicians and medical clinics (collectively 

20 "providers"), that treated patients covered by the ILWU-PMA Plan 

21 ("ILWU-PMA Plan members"). Each ILWU-PMA Plan member was issued a 

22 subscriber identification card that identified the ILWU-PMA Plan 

.23 member by a unique identification number ("ILWU-PMA Plan member ID 

24 Number") . 

25 e. The ILWU-PMA Plan.required providers to submit claim 

26 forms in order to receive reimbursement for medical services provided 

27 to subscribers. Among other information, providers were required to .. 

28 include in the claim forms: (i) the ILWU-PMA Plan member's name and 

3 
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1 ID Number; (ii) the type of service provided (identified by a 

2 standardized procedure code number known as a "CPT Code"); (iii) the 

3 date the service was provided; (iv) the charge for the service; (v) 

4 the diagnosis (identified by a standardized diagnostic code number, 

5 the "ICD-9 Diagnosis Code"); and (vi) the provider's name and/or 

6 i<).entification number. 

7 f. Effective July 1, 2000, the ILWU-PMA Plan was 

8 administered by the ILWU-PMA Benefit Plans office, with claims 

9 processed and paid through the ILWU-PMA Coastwise Claims Office 

10 ( "Coastwise Claims") , located in San Francisco, California. 

11 Subsequently, the ILWU-PMA Plan shifted to using a third party 

12 administrator ( '"I'PA"), which, from 2008 until 2013, was CIGNA, but 

13 claims for medical services provided to ILWU-PMA Plan members 

14 continued to be processed and paid through Coastwise Claims. 

15 Coastwise Claims used the United States mail to send to providers 

16 reimbursement checks resulting from processed claims. 

17 g. The ILWU-PMA Plan had a Preferred Provider 

18 Organization ( "PPO") . For medical services provided by providers 

19 within the PPO, the ILWU-PMA Plan generally covered 100% of the PPO 

20 charge with no deductible and without requiring ILWU-PMA Plan members 

21 receiving the services to contribute any copay amount or incur any 

22 other out-of-pocket costs. For medical services provided by 

23 providers outside the PPO, the ILWU-PMA Plan generally covered only 

24 80% of the usual, customary and reasonable charges for the services, 

25 with the balance to be paid by the ILWU-PMA Plan members receiving 

26 the services. 

27 h. The ILWU-PMA Plan excluded from coverage any services 

28 "which are not medically necessary to treat an illness or injury." 

4 
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4. At all times relevant to this Indictment: 

a. Federal Express Corporation ("FedEx") was a global 

3 delivery company, operating in interstate. and international commerce, 

4 that was headquartered in Memphis, Tennessee. FedEx provided a 

5 variety of benefits, including health care benefits, to eligible 

6 active and retired FedEx employees and their qualified dependents. 

7 Eligible recipients of health care benefits had a choice to have 

B those benefits provided through either an HMO or a self-funded 

9 program, the Federal Express Corporation Group Health Plan (the 

10 "FedEx Plan"). The FedEx Plan was funded by contributions from FedEx 

11 and covered employees. 

12 b. The FedEx Plan reimbursed providers of medical 

13 services, including physicians and medical clinics (collectively 

14 "providers"), that treated patients covered by the FedEx Plan ("FedEx 

15 Plan members"). Each FedEx Plan member was issued a subscriber 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

identification card that identified the FedEx Plan member b:f a unique 

identification number ("FedEx Plari member ID Number"). 

c. The FedEx Plan required providers to submit claim 

forms in order to receive reimbursement for medical services provided 

to subscribers. Among other information, providers were required to 

include in the claim forms: (i) the FedEx Plan member's name and ID 

Number; (ii) the type of service provided (identified by a CPT Code); 

(iii) the date the service was provided; (iv) the charge for the 

servi.ce; (v) the diagnosis (identified by a ICD-9 Diagnosis Code); 

and (vi) the provider's name and/or identification number. 

d. The FedEx Plan was administered by FedEx Express 

27 Employee Benefits, located in Memphis, Tennessee. To process and pay 

28 provider claims, however, the FedEx Plan used a TPA, which, for 

5 
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1 active FedEx employees and their dependents located in California was 

2 Anthem Blue Cross ("Anthem") . Anthem used the United States mail to 

3 send to providers reimbursement checks resulting from processed 

4 claims. 

5 e. The FedEx Plan had a PPO. · The FedEx Plan generally 

6 paid more of a share of the costs for medical services provided by 

7 providers within ·the PPO, referred to as "in-network" services, than 

8 it did for medical services provided by providers outside the PPO, 

9 referred to as "out-of-network" providers. Thus, for example, for 

10 diagnostic testing·, the FedEx Plan generally provided coverage of 80% 

11 or 90% (after deductible) of the amount billed by the provider for 

12 in-network services, but only 60% or 70% (after deductible) of an 

13 expense limit, that is, an amount; as determined by the TPA (in 

14 California, Anthem), considered appropriate for the service provided 

15 in the FedEx Plan member's geographic area. The FedEx Plan member 

16 remained responsible for paying costs not covered by the FedEx Plan. 

17 f. The FedEx Plan excluded from .coverage any services 

18 that were not "medically necessary when treating an illness or 

19 injury." The FedEx Plan defined medically necessary care as that 

20 "commonly and customarily recognized by the most relevant medical 

21 specialist . . . with respect to the standards of good practice as 

22 appropriate an effective in the identification and treatment of a 

23 diagnosed illness or injury," "consistent with the symptoms upon 

24 which.the diagnosis and treatment of the illness or injury is based," 

25 "not provided primarily as a convenience to the patient, 

26 practitioner, hospital or covered provider;" and "not provided 

27 primarily for the purpose of medical research or other research." 

28 

6 
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1 5. On or about the following dates, defendants NIKBAKHT, 

2 CHAIT, and DOGANYAN opened and caused to be opened at the following 

3 banks the following accounts (each identified by the last four digits 

4 of the account number) for the following' Diagnostic Corporations 

5 (collectively the "Diagnostic Corporation Accounts"): 

6 
Date Bank Diagnostic Account J):fumber 

7 ·Corporation 

8 5/10/2012. Chase Uni care ****3806 

9 5/10/2012 Chase Relax Sleep ****4003 

10 6/4/2012 Chase Sleep Well ****2387 
' 

11 7/9/2012 Chase Diagnostic Care ****4280 

7/19/2012 ·, 
Citibank Nova Sleep ****7483 

13 9/28/2012 Wells Fargo Nova Sleep ****0732 

14 9/28/2012 Wells Fargo Nova Diagnostic ****0757 

15 10/15/2012 Bank of. America Relax Sleep ****0179 

16 10/15/2012 Bank ·of America Nova Diagnostic ****0182 

17 10/24/2012 Citibank Uni care ****6877 

18 

19 B. THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME 

20 6. Beginning in or before August 2009, and continuing through 

21 at least in or about September 2013, in Los Angeles County, within 

22 the Central District of California, and elsewhere, defendants 

23 NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN, together with others known and unknown 

24 to the Grand Jury, knowingly and with intent to defraud, devised, 

25 participated in, and executed a scheme to defraud private health 

26 insurance plans, including the ILWU-PMA and FedEx Plans, as to 

27 material matters, and to obtain money and property from p;t:'ivate 

28 health insurance plans, including the ILWU-PMA and FedEx Plans, by 

7 
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1 means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, 

2 and promises, and the concealment of material facts. 

3 7. The fraudulent scheme was carried out, in substance, as 

4 follows: 

5 a. Defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN incorporated 

6 and caused to be incorporated the Diagnostic Corporations,· and 

7 obtained and caused to be obtained for the Diagnostic Corporations 

8 provider identification numbers for use in making claims for 

9 reimbursement for sleep studies and NCVs to the ILWU-PMA and FedEx 

10 Plans. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

b. On or about February 1, 2012,_ defendants NIKBAKHT and 

CHAIT leased the premises located at 15450 Ventura Boulevard, Suite 

101, Sherman Oaks, California (the "Sherman Oaks Facility"), which 

premises defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN used and caused to 

be used to perform sleep studies on ILWU-PMA and FedEx Plan members. 

c. On or about June 22, 2012, defendant CHAIT leased the 

premises located at 1428 West 7th Street, Suite B, San Pedro, 

California (the "San Pedro Facility"), which defendants NIKBAKHT, 

_CHAIT, and DOGANYAN, operating under the name "Well Care Medical 

Center," used and caused to be used to perform a variety of 

diagnostic medical services, including NCVs, on ILWU-PMA and FedEx 

Plan members. 

d. Defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN recruited, 

24 and caused others to recruit, ILWU-PMA and FedEx Plan members to 

25 receive diagnostic medical services, including sleep studies and 

26 NCVs, by offering and causing to be offered to those Plan members 

27 cash payments in return for those Plan members receiving diagnostic 

28 medical services, including sleep studies and NCVs, provided at 

8 
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1 various facilities, including the Sherman Oaks and San Pedro 

2 facilities operated ·and controlled by de.fendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and 

3 DOGANYAN. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

e. Defendant CHAIT would pick up ILWU-PMA and FedEx Plan 

members who had been recruited to receive diagnostic medical 

services, including sle.ep studies and NCVs, and drive them to the 

facilities at which' those services would be provided, including the 

Sherman Oaks and San Pedro facilities. 

f. Defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN, would make 

and cause to be made.cash payments to ILWU-PMA and FedEx Plan members 

in return for them receiving diagnostic medical services, including 

sleep studies and NCVs. 

g. Knowing that the diagnostic medical services, 

including sleep studies and NCVs, being billed for ILWU-PMA and FedEx 

Plan members recruited and paid to undergo those diagnostic medical 

services were not medically necessary and, in some instances, had not 

actually been provided, defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN 

caused the Diagnostic Corporations to submit to Coastwise Claims and 

Anthem claims for reimbursement for diagnostic medical services for 

those ILWU-PMA and FedEx Plan members that: (i) were materially .false 

and misleading, in that they represented that the diagnostic medical 

serv·ices billed for had actually been provided and were medically 

necessary; and (ii) concealed material facts, namely, that the ILWU­

PMA and FedEx Plan members for whom claims were being submitted had 

been recruited and paid to undergo those diagnostic medical services 

they actually received and had not been required to pay any portion 

of the costs of the diagnostic medical services that were billed. 

9 
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1 h. Defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN caused checks 

2 received in the mail from Coastwise C:J_aims and Anthem in payment of 

3 claims for reimbursement for diagnostic medical services by the 

4 Diagnostic Corporations to be deposited into the Diagnostic 

5 Corporation Accounts. 

6 8 . By means of the fraudulent scheme described above, 

7 defendants NIKBAKHT·, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN submitted and caused to be 

8 submitted to the ILWU-PMA and FedEx Plans claims seeking payment of 

9 at least $16,000,000, which claims caused the ILWU-PMA and FedEx 

10 Plans to pay at least $3,000,000. 

11 c. USE OF THE MAIL 

12 9. On or about the dates set f_orth below, in J;,os Angeles 

13 County, within· the Central District of California, and elsewhere, 

14 defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT., and DOGANYAN, for the purpose of 

15 executing and attempting to execute the above-described scheme to 

1·6 defraud, willfully caused to be placed in a post office and 

·17 authorized depository for mail matter the following items to be sent 

18 and delivered by the United States Postal Service: 

19 
COUNT 

20 ONE 

21 

22 
TWO 

23 

24 

25 THREE 

26 

27 

28 

DATE 

10/24/2011 

6/4/2012 

6/7/2012 

ITEM MAILED 

Check No. 7819133, payable to Wellcare 
Sleep Center, Inc., in the amount of 
$6,900.00 for a sleep study for J.P., 
mailed from Coastwise Claims to 369 S. 
Dohenv Dr. #248, Beverly Hills, CA 
Check No. 8329476, payable to Unicare 
Sleep Center, Inc., in the amount of 
$9,000.00 for a sleep study for F.L., 
mailed from Coastwise Claims to 369 S. 
Doheny Dr. #248, Beverly Hills, CA 
Check No. 185115, payable to Unicare 
Sleep Center, Inc., in the amount of 
$2,864.20 for, in part, sleep studies 
for B.F. and E.F., mai::Led from Anthem 
to 743 Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 

10 
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1 
COUNT DATE ITEM MAILED 

2 FOUR 6/20/2012 Check No. 8379737, payable to Unicare 
Sleep Center, Inc., in the amount of 

3 $9,000.00 for a sleep study for A.L:, 
mailed from Coastwise Claims to 369 s. 

4 Dohenv Dr. #248, Beverlv Hills, CA 
FIVE 7/3/2012 Check No. 8412981, payable to 

Diagnostic Care, Inc., in the amount of 5 
$5,915.70 for a NCV study for T.L. Jr., 

6 mailed from Coastwise Claims to 743 
Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 

7 SIX 7/5/2012 Check No. 8415897, payable to 
Diagnostic Care, Inc., in the amount of 
$6,573.00 for a NCV study for A.L., 8 

mailed from Coastwise Claims to 743 
9 Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 

SEVEN 8/21/2012 Check No. 8531851, payable to Relax 
Sleep Lab, Inc., in the amount of 10 
$9,000.00 for a sleep study for A.S., 
mailed from Coastwise Claims to 743 11 
Glenwood Road. Glendale, CA 

EIGHT 9/12/2012 Check No. 223480, payable to Nova 12 
Diagnostic, Inc., in the amount of 
$1,847.04 for, in part, a NCV study for 13 
R.L., mailed from Anthem to 743 
Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 14 

NINE 9/13/2012 Check No. 223970, payable to Nova 
Diagnostic, Inc., in the amount of 15 

$923.52 for, in part, a NCV study for . 
C.L., mailed from Anthem to 743 16 

Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 
TEN 9/14/2012 Check No. 224498, payable to Nova Sleep 17 

Lab, Inc., in the amount of $1,437.BO 
for, in part, a sleep study for N.T., 18 

mailed from Anthem to 743 Glenwood 
Road·, Glendale, CA 19 

ELEVEN 9/18/2012 Check No. 225596, payable·to Nova Sleep 
Lab, Inc., in the amount of $1,437.80 20 

for, in part, a sleep study for C.M., 
mailed from Anthem to 743 Glenwood 21 

Road, Glendale, CA 
TWELVE 10/8/2012 Check No. 8635000, payable to 22 

Diagnostic Care, Inc., in the amount of 
$6,288.30 for a NCV study for I.L., 23 

mailed from Coastwise Claims to 743 
Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 24 

THIRTEEN 10/8/2012 Check No. 8635001, payable to 
Diagnostic Care, Inc., in the amount of 

25 

$6,288.30 for a NCV study for F.L., 
mailed from Coastwise Claims to 743 

26 

27 Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 

28 

11 
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COUNT DATE 

FOURTEEN 10/8/2012 

FIFTEEN 10/8/2012 

SIXTEEN 10/9/2012 

SEVENTEEN 10/9/2012 

EIGHTEEN 10/11/2012 

NINETEEN 10/19/2012 

TWENTY 11/5/2012 

ITEM MAILED 

Check No. 8635002, payable to 
Diagnostic Care, Inc., in the. amount of 
$6,288.30 for a NCV study for A.L., 
mailed from Coastwise Claims to 743 
Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 
Check No. 8635003, payable to 
Diagnostic Care, Inc., in the amount of 
$6,288.30 for a NCV study for T.L. Jr., 
mailed from Coastwise Claims to 743 
Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 
Check No. 8638524, payable to Nova 
Diagnostic, Inc., in the amount of 
$6,334~52 for, in part, a NCV study for 
G.T., mailed from Coastwise Claims to 
743 Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 
Check No. 8638522, payable t\o Nova 
Diagnostic, Inc., in the amount of 
$6,344.52 for a NCV study for T.T., 
mailed from Coastwise Claims to 743 
Glendale Road, Glendale, CA 
Check No. 234929, payaole to Diagnostic 
Care, Inc., in the amount of $5,879.32 
for, in part, a NCV study for V.L., 
mailed from Anthem to 743 Glenwood 
Road, Glendale, CA 
Check No. 8665830, payable to 
Diagnostic Care, Inc., in the amount of 
$1,340.00 for an Extremity Study for 
J.N., mailed from Coastwise Claims to 
743 Glenwood Road, Glendale, CA 
Check No. 8702574, payable to Nova 
Diagnostic, Inc., in the amount of 
$6,255.90 for a NCV study for J.T., 
mailed from Coastwise Claims to 743 
Glenwood Road, Gle·ndale, CA 

12 
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1 

2 

3 

COUNT TWENTY-ONE 

[18 u.s .c. § 1956 (h) l 

10. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference and 

4 realleges paragraphs 1-5 and 7-9 of this Indictment as though fully 

5 set forth herein. 

6 A. 

7 

THE OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

11.. Beginning in or before August 2009, and continuing through 

8 at least in or about September 2013, in Los Angeles County, within 

9 the Central District of California, defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and 

10 DOGANYAN, together with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

11 knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed to commit the following 

12 offenses against the United States: 

13 a. Money laundering, in violation of Title 18, United 

14 States Code, Section 1956(a) (1) (B) (i}, by, knowing that the property 

15 involved in the financial transactions represented the proceeds of 

16 some form of unlawful activity, conducting and attempting to conduct 

17 financial transactions affecting interstate commerce that involved 

18 the proceeds of specified unlawful activity,. namely: mail fraud 

19 committed in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341, 

20 with the intent to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, 

21 ownership, and control of proceeds of that specified unlawful 

22 activity; and 

23 b. Money laundering, in violation of Title 18, United 

24 States Code, Section 1956(a) (1) (A) (i}, by, knowing that the property 

25 involved in the financial transactions represented the proceeds of 

26 some form of unlawful activity, conducting and attempting to conduct 

27 financial transactions affecting interstate commerce that involved 

28 the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, namely, mail fraud 

13 
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1 committed in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341, 

2 with the intent to promote the carrying on of that specified unlawful 

3 activity. 

4 B . THE MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

12. The objects of the conspiracy_were carried out, and to be 

carried out, in substance, in the following manner and by the 

following means: 

a. From the proceeds of the mail fraud deposited into the 

Diagnostic. Corporation accounts, defendants NIKBAKH_T, CHAIT, and 

DOGANYAN caused funds to be transferred, through other accounts, the 

issuance of cashier's checks, and cash withdrawals and deposits, to, 

among other things: (i) generate cash used to make payments to ILWU­

PMA and FedEx Plan members in return for them agreeing to receive and 

actually receiving diagnostic medical pro_cedures; (ii) pay expenses 

necessary to implement the mail fraud scheme, including payments to 

Dr. B. O., who oversaw the provision of diagnostic medical services, 

including NCVs, at the San Pedro facility, and to Star Medical 

Billing, located at 743 Glenwood Road, Glendale, California ("Star 

Medical Billing"), which, acting at the direction of defendants 

NIKBAKHT and DOGANYAN, prepared and submitted bills for diagnostic 

medi_cal procedures, including sleep studies and NCVs, undergone by 

ILWU-PMA and FedEx Plan members in return for payment; and (iii) 

transfer funds to companies controlled by defendant DOGANYAN, 

including Doganyan Plumbing, located at 2000 west Magnolia Boulevard, 

Burbank, California ("Doganyan Plumbing"), and Imperial Telegraph 

Hand Car wash, located at 14861 Imperial Highway, La Mirada, 

California ("Imperial Car Wash"), to make it falsely appear that the 

·14 
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1 funds were connected with legitimate business transactions engaged in 

2 with those companies. 

3 b. Defendant NIKBAKHT caused checks received in the mail 

4 f]'.'om Coastwise Claims and Anthem in payment of claims for 

5 reimbursement 'tor diagnostic medical services by the Diagnostic 

6 Corporations to be cashed at Westwood 'Check Cashing Etc., 2180 

7 Westwood Boulevard, Unit 1-H, Los Angeles, California ("Westwood 

B Check Cashing") , thus converting the proceeds of the mail fraud into 

9 cash which: (i) could not be traced; and (ii) could be used to make 

10 payments to ILWU-PMA and.FedEx Plan members in return for them 

11 agreeing to receive and actually receiving diagnostic medical 

12 procedures . 

13 c. Defendants NIKBAKHT and DOGANYAN caused checks 

14 received in the mail from Coastwise Claims and Anthem in payment of 

15 claims for reimbursement for diagnostic medical services by the 

16 Diagnostic Corporations to be deposited into a bank account for 

17 Galaxy Escrow, which was located first at 325 North Victory 

18 Boulevard, Burbank, California, and then at 1207 West Magnolia 

19 Boulevard, Burbank, California ("Galaxy Escrow"), maintained at East 

20 West: Bank, El Monte, California,. account ****4837. From the proceeds 

21 of the mail fraud deposited into the Galaxy.Escrow account, 

22 defendants N.IKBAKHT and DOGANYAN caused Galaxy ESC:J'.'OW: (i) to 

23 transfer funds to companies controlled by defendant DOGANYAN, 

24 including Doganyan Plumbing and Imperial Car Wash, to make it falsely 

25 appear that the funds resulted from legitimate business transactions 

26 engaged in by those companies; and (ii) to make checks payable to 

27 defendant NIKBAKHT, which checks bore fabricated escrow numbers to 

28 

15 
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1 make them falsely appear to relate to the proceeds of real estate.or 

2 other legitimate business transactions. 

3 c. OVERT ACTS 

4 13. On or about the following dates, in furtherance of the 
. ' 

5 conspiracy and to accomplish its objects, defendants NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, 

6 and DOGANYAN, together with other co-conspirators known and unknown 

7 to the Grand Jury, committed and willfully caused others to commit, 

8 the following overt acts, among others, in the Central District of 

9 California and elsewhere:. 

10 Overt Act 1: On or about June 29, 2012, defendants NIKHBAHT and 

11 DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1156, drawn on Unicare Chase 

12 Bank account ****3806, payable to Star Medical Billing in the amount 
• 

13 of $12,100.00. 

14 overt Act 2: On or about July9, 2012, defendant DOGANYAN 

15 caused to be issued Check No .. 1200, drawn on Unicare Chase Bank 

16 account ****3806, payable to Imperial Car Wash in the.amount of 

17 $2,500.00. 

18 overt Act 3: On or about July 10, 2012, defendants NIKBAKHT, 

19 CHAIT, and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1158, drawn on 

20 Unicare Chase Bank account ****3806, payable to Sleep Well in the 

21 amount of $15,000.00. 

22 Overt Act 4: On or about July 18, 2012 ,. defendants NIKBAKHT and 

23 DOGANYAN caused to be purchased with funds f~om Diagnostic Care Chase 

24 Bank account ****4280, Chase Bank Cashier's Checks #1158808081 and 

25 #1158808082, each payable to defendant NIKBAKHT in the amount of 

26 $20,000.00·, which Cashier's Checks defendant NIKBAKHT subsequently 

27 cashed at.Westwood Check Cashing. 

28 

16 
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1 Overt Act 5: On or about July 19, 2012, dJt~haants NIK 

2 DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1001, dr~w~ on Diagno' . 
3 Chase Bank account ****4280, payable to Star Me@id'~i Billing,. 

4 amount of $10,610.00. 

5 

6 

7 

Overt Act 6: On or about August 1, 2012, d~:E.~ndants NI. 

and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1208j ~tawn on un'• 

Chase Bank account ****3806, payable to Galaxy Esc~ow in the 

s of $50,000.00. :.·l . 
9 Overt Act 7: On or about August 1, 2012, clet'.~ndant DOG 

10 caused to be purchased with funds from Diagnost~C: '··~are Chase 

11 account ****4280, Chase Bank Cashier's Check #1],5~·~ds170, pa 

J.2 

13 

14 

15 

Imperial Car Wash in the amount .of $4,059.22. ·~ •Ji·,,', . 

Overt Act 8: On or about August 12, 2012, cq~iendants NI 

and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1036; d~a;wn on Uni 

Chase Bank account ****3806, payable to Galaxy ~·s¢j~w in the 

16 of $70,000.00. ".-::'.'.~}'. ' . ~ 
c''J},:- : ~ 

17 Overt Act 9: On or about August 21, 2012, 'dg~e!ldants NI •' ,_ - --.-a-- . ' 

18 and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1153 Jdi"'wn on 

19 Chase Bank account ****3806, payable to Doganyan\J?,~UJUbing in· 

20 amount of $7,000.00. 

21 Overt Act 10: On or about August 22, 2 012, :\a,'~~kndants 
~:; -- :,:.?"fi' 

22 and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 104, ct;t'.~i-.rn on Nova ::.< -_-,,~'>•'- ' ' 

23 Citibank account ****7483, payable to Star Medic,i1;i~illing 

24 amount of $18,235.77. 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Overt Act 11: On or about August 31, 2012, '.J;{~~ndants 
··r-: 

and DOGANYAN caused to be purchased with funds fro~~Relax Sle 

Bank account ****4003, Chase Bank Cashier's Check<~l158808384 1 
payable to defendant NIKBAKHT .in the amount of $7;?,loo. 00, wh'' 

17 



3 

4 

5 

to be deposited 
-~ . ··~ 

****4837. · r;;·• 
Overt Act :J,2;l ·· on or aboµt ,September 5, 

ub~egl.)$nt1y Ga 

arrk aqc~Jlnt :. 

l\)!KBAKHT a,p.d DOG2i.'N'£l-'.N caµse~ j::o be purchased with f~nds from ·~6vk 
6 Sleep Ci tl.kank a~¢ount *~**74~3, citibank Qaf!hier' s cti.ecl': J312.'ios6bO, 

7 

8 

9 

: 10 

14 

P<'-Yable t~ deferldant NIKBl,\.KHT• in ;i~'e amo<+nt'fof $70, opo. o~, whic~ 
Cashier's }Checkfcf$fenGLarit Nri~AKH•~ subseql.)efitly cashed} at Wes.twood 

'. ~ -

;., ,-.,. 

Overt·· Act 13; .On or 

Check Casl:).ing. 

about October 17, 2012, defendan~·~·NI~lAK~~ 
\~nd DOGANYzu:;l caus~d to be pJ:i:;chased: J;Lth fe\~ds frqn g~iax: sie'~p Chase 1,,· 

Bank account **~*~003, Chase Bank •cashie:f 1 i Cheqk #l[Q~713274}, ,, 

payable to Dogar1ycin Plumbing in tpe. amdurit of $24, 04;. 50. •··.· ·.. <E . •• ... 
Overt }\.qt 14: od or, abott Ocifbber jj, 2,012, ·defendant :DoGhliYAl'i 

15 caused to be iss~$d Check.;No .... 991}·4rawn ori;.~ova Dia~h$stic 0f 

lt5 America acqount **;*".'OX82, .payable to Imperi~p.. Car Wa~h in 

17 

18 

'19 

20 

·21 

22 

23 

;24 

[2,5 

.·25 

of. $5, ooo.po .. 

Overt iAct 1$\' Ori or 

~ ', . ,,,_;_:.__ -:.- :' 
; -··-~ ·:- ·. ' :.< :'•' 

abhut Novlmber 2, 2012, d'efen~ants NI~l'+KHT\ ¥ - "' ' --- - _- ._, .· . ' .,· ' ' -. 

apd DOGANYA,N caus,~tl to' be iSsued Check No. 1001, dr0V(h·'on N()V.a Sleep 
.;·.-:· 

Wells Fargo acco~Ji# **';lr*0732 i payable to unAcare iri th~ amount .of' 

$?,000.00 .. 

overt Act 1itf On.or abo~£ November 2,' 2012, defe~danB'~·· 
NlI<BAKHT, CH/'+IT I ii~~& P~GANYAN "caused to be issued creel~· No.:· 991, 

drawn on REilax: si$)~];i BS.nk of America 1 account ****Ol79:/ payab1¢ to 

defendant CH/'+IT i£(~he;amount .of $34, 000. 00, which c~eck was 
- • ··,-: .',.;·_;, :. __-"-,""'' • • -· ••• , ,.o 

subsequently ret~~~~df~or insufficient funds after Bank of '.Al\1ert.~a 
.'27 froze the funds ;i,:n;: the{ account. 

18 
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1 Overt Act 17: On or about November 2, 2012, defendants NIKBAKHT 

2 and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 993, drawn on Relax Sleep 

3 Bank of America accoupt ****0179, payable to Doganyan Plumbing in the 

4 amount of $5, ooo. 00, ·~which check was subsequently returned for 

' 5 insufficient funds after Bank of America froze the funds in the 

6 account. 

7 Overt Act 18: on or about November 2, 2012, defendants NIKBAKHT 

8 and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 993, drawn on Nova 

9 Diagnostic Bank of Am~rica account ****0182, payable to Wellcare in 

10 the amount of $30,00Q.OO, which check defendant NIKBAKHT subsequently, 

11 cashed at Westwood Cl'J:ecking. 

12· Overt Act 19: On or about November 2, 2012, defendants NIKBAKHT 

13 and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1002, drawn on Unicare 

14 Citibank account ****.6877, payable to Doganyan Plumbing in the amount 

15 of $ 5, O o o . O o . 

16 Overt Act 20: OJ?.' or about November 5, 2012, defendants 

17 NIKBAKHT, CHAIT, and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 996, 

18 drawn on Nova Diagnostic Bani' of America account ****0182, payable to 

19 defendant CHAIT in the amount of $6, 000. DO. 

20 Overt Act 21: Oh or about November 8 1 2012, defendant DOGANYAN 

21 caused to be issued ChffeJCk No. 1003, drawn on Nova Sleep Wells Fargo 

22 account ****0732, paya,ble to Imperial Car Wash in the amount of 

23 $5,00D.OO. 

24 overt Act 22: Ort or about November 9, 2012, defendants NIKBAKHT 

25 and DOGANYAN caused to.· be issued Check No. 1001, drawn on Nova 

26 Diagnostic Wells FargQ, account ****0757, payable to Dr. B.O. in the 

27 amount of $5,000.00. 

28 
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1 Overt Act 23: On or about November 9, 2012, defendants NIKBAKHT 

2 and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1004, drawn on Unicare 

3 Citibank account ****6877, payable to defendant NIKBAKHT in the 

4 amount of $17, 000. 06, which check defendant NIKBAKHT subsequently 

5 cashed at Westwood Check Cashing. 

6 overt Act 24·: On or about November 19, 2012, defendants 

7 NIKBAKHT and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1012, drawn on 

8 Nova Sleep Wells Fargo account ****0732, payable to Star Medical 

9 Billing in the amount of $10,000.00. 

10 Overt Act 25: On or about December 17, 2012, defendants 

11 NIKBAKHT and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1006, drawn on 

12 Nova Diagnostic Wells Fargo account ****0757, payable to Doganyan 

13 Plumbing in the amount of $6,000.00. 

14 Overt Act 26: on or about December 19, 2012, defendants 

15 NIKBAKHT and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1007, drawn on 

16 Nova Diagnostic Wells ·Fargo account ****0757, payable to Dr. B.O. in 

17 the amount of $6,700.00. 

18 Overt Act 27: On or about January 2, 20l3, defendant DOGANYAN 

19 caused to be issued Check No. 1011, drawn on Nova Diagnostic Wells 

20 Fargo account ****0757, payable to E.K. in the amount of $1,800, with 

21 the notation "3 week pay." 

22 Overt Act 28: On or about March 3, 2013, defendant DOGANYAN 

23 caused to be issued Check No. 1017, drawn on Nova Diagnostic Wells 

24 Fargo account ****0757, payable to RFLP in the amount of $2,500.00. 

25 overt Act 29: on or about March 26, 2013, defendants NIKBAKHT 

26 and DOGANYAN caused to be issued Check No. 1019_, drawn on Nova 

27 Diagnostic Wells Fargo account ****0757, payable to Star Medical 

28 Billing in the amount of $22,100.00. 

20 
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1 COUNTS TWENTY-TWO THROUGH TWENTY-SEVEN 

2 [18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(l)(B)(i), 2) 

3 14. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference and 

4 realleges paragraphs 1-5, 7-9, and 12-13 of this Indictment as though 

5 fully set forth herein. 

6 15. On or about.the following dates, in Los Angeles County, 

7 within the Central District of California, and elsewhere, the 

8 following defendants, together with' others known and unknown to the 

9 Grand Jury, knowing that the property involved in each of the 

10 following financial transactions represented the proceeds of some 

11 form of unlawful activity, conducted and willfully caused others to 

12 conduct the following financial transactions affecting interstate 

13 commerce, which transactions in fact involved the proceeds of 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

specified unlawful activity, namely, mail fraud, in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341, knowing that each of the 

transactions was designed in whole and in part to conceal and 

disguise the nature, location," source, ownership, and control of the 

proceeds of such specified unlawful activity: 

COUNT 

TWENTY-TWO 
. 

TWENTY-THREE 

TWENTY-FOUR 

DEFENDANTS 

NIKBAKHT 
CHAIT 
DOGANYAN 
NIKBAKHT 
DOGANYAN 

NIKBAKHT 
DOGANYAN 

DATE 

7/10/2012 

7/19/2012 

7/20/2012 

21 

FINANCIAL TRANSACTION 

Cash withdrawal of $8,000.00 
from the Sleep Well Chase Bank 
account ****2389 
Cashing at Westwood Check 
Cashing of Chase Bank Cashier's 
Check #1158808082, dated 
7/18/2012, payable to defendant 
NIKBAKHT in the amount of 
$20,000 
Cashing at Westwood Check 
Cashing of Chase Bank Cashier's 
Check #1158808081, dated 
7/18/2012, payable to defendant 
NIKBAKHT in the amount of 
$20,000 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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COUNT 

TWENTY-FIVE 

TWENTY-SIX 

TWENTY-SEVEN 

DEFENDANTS "DATE 

NIKBAKHT 9/13/2_012 
DOGANYAN 

NIKBAKHT 11/2/2012 
DOGANYAN 

NIKBAKHT 11/21/2012 
DOGANYAN 

22 

FINANCIAL TRANSACTION 

Cashing at Westwood Check 
Cashing of Citibank Cashier's 
Check #312503600, dated 
9/5/2012, payable to defendant 
NIKBAKHT in the amount of 
$70,000 
Cashing at Westwood Check 
Cashing of Check No. 993, drawn 
on Nova Dia.gnostic Bank of. 
America account ****0182, 
payable to Wellcare in the 
amount of $30,000 
Issuance from the Galaxy Escrow 
East West Bank account ****4837 
of Check #115739, dated 
11/21/2012, bearing Escrow No. 
23432-ME payable to defendant 
NIKBAKHT in the amount of 
$50,000 
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1 COUNTS TWENTY-EIGHT THROUGH THIRTY 

2 [18 u.s.c. §§ 1957, 2] 

3 16. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference and 

4 realleges paragraphs 1-5 and 7-9 of this Indictment as though fully 

5 set forth herein. 

6 17. On or about the following dates, in Los Angeles County, 

7 within the Central District of Caiifornia, the following defendants·, 

·s knowing that the funds involved represented the proceeds of some form 

9 of unlawful activity, knowingly engaged in, and willfully caused 

10 others to engage in,· the following monetary transact.ions, affecting 

11 interstate ·commerce, in criminally derived property· of a value· 

12 greater than $10,000, which monetary ·transactions involved property 

13 derived from a specified unlawful activity, namely, mail fraud, in 

14 violation of Title 18, United States Code" Section 1341: 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

COUNT 

TWENTY-EIGHT 

TWENTY-NINE 

DEFENDANTS DATE MONETARY TRANSACTION 

NIKBAKHT 

NIKBAKHT 
DOGANYAN 

7/5/2012 Payment of Check No. 1157, 
drawn on the ~nicare Chase Bank 
account number ****3806, dated 
7/5/2012, in the amount of 
$42,000, payable to Major 
Motors for the purchase of a · 
2010 Porsche Panamera 

11/19/2012 Payment of Check No. 115682, 
drawn on the Galaxy Escrow E.ast 
West Bank account ****4837, 
dated 11/15/2012, in the amount 
of $20,000, bearing escrow 
number 23454-ME, payable to 
defendant NIKBAKHT 

23 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 
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COUNT DEFENDANTS DATE MONETARY TRANSACTION 

THIRTY NIKBAKHT 11/19/2012 Payment of Check No. 115683, 
drawn on the Galaxy Escrow East 
West Bank account ****4837, 
dated 11/15/2012, in the amount 
of $26,000, bearing escrow 
number 23454-ME, payable to 
defendant NIKBAKHT 

DOGANYAN 

EILEEN M. DECKER 
United States Attorney 

A TRUE BILL 

/S/ 
Foreperson 

14 ,;:::.--- • 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

LAWRENCE S. MIDDLETON 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Chief, Criminal Division 

GEORGE S. CARDONA 
Assistant United states Attorney 
Chief, Major Frauds Section 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

CRIMINAL MINUTES -- GENERAL 

Case No. CR 16-407-MWF Dated: December 15, 2016. 
================================================================== 
PRESENT: HONORABLE MICHAEL W. FITZGERALD, U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE 

Rita Sanchez 
Courtroom Deputy 

Nichole Forrest 
Court Reporter 

George S. Cardona 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 

================================================================== 
U.S.A. vs (Dfts listed below) 

1) Nick Nikbakht 
Present - On bond 

1) 

Attorneys for Defendants 

Joel C. Koury 
Present - Appointed 

PROCEEDINGS: CHANGE OF PLEA AND SETTING OF SENTENCING DATE 

Case called, anc,I counsel make their appearance. 

Defendant is sworn. Plea agreement is filed. The plea agreement is incorporated and made a 
part of this proceeding. 

Defendant withdraws his previously entered plea of not guilty and enters a plea of Guilty to 
Count Three, Twelve, and Twenty-One of the Indictment. 

The Court questions the defendant regarding the plea of Guilty and finds a factual and legal 
basis for the plea. The Court finds that the defendant, Nick Nikbakht, has entered his plea 
freely and voluntarily with a full understanding of the charges against him and the 
consequences of his plea. The Court finds that defendant understands his constitutional and 
statutory rights and wishes to waive them . 

.. 
The Court refers the defendant to the Probation Office for the preparation of a pre-sentence 
report and continues the matter to June·S, 2017, at 1:30 p.m., for sentencing. The Jury Trial 
is hereby vacated, as to this defendant only. The defendant is ordered to return on this date 
for Sentencing. The defendant's terms and conditions of bond remain the same. 

The Court orders the transcript of this proceeding sealed. 

MINUTES FORM 8 

CRIM -- COP & SET SENT 

Initials of Deputy Clerk rs 

:40 
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cc: PSA 
USPO 

Counsel are notified that Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32 requires the parties to notify the 
Probation Officer, and each other, of any objections to the Presentence Report within fourteen (14) 
days of receipt. Alternatively, counsel may file such objections not later than twenty-one (21) days 
before Sentencing. The Court construes 11 objections 11 to include departure arguments. Any party 
intending to move for a continuance of the Sentencing shall, not later than noon on the Monday 
preceding the Sentencing, notify opposing counsel and the Courtroom Deputy. Strict compliance with 
the above is mandatory because untimely filings interfere with the Court's preparation for Sentencing. 
Failure to meet these deadlines is grounds for sanctions. 

MINUTES FORM 8 

CRIM -- COP & SET SENT 

Initials of Deputy Clerk £§____ 

:40 



WESTERN,PROTORD 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA (Western Division - Los Angeles) 

CRIMINAL DOCKET FOR CASE#: 2:16-cr-00407-MWF-1 

Case title: USA v. Nikbakht et al 

Assigned to: Judge Michael W. 
Fitzgerald 

Defendant (1) 

Nick. Nikbakht 
also known as 
Sasan Nikbakht 
also known as 
Sam Nikbakht 

Pending Counts 

18:1341,2 MAIL FRAUD, AIDING 
AND ABETTING AND CAUSING 
AN ACT TO E DONE 
(1-2) 

18:1341,2 MAIL FRAUD, AIDING 
AND ABETTING AND CAUSING 
AN ACT TO E DONE 
(3) 

18:1341,2 MAIL FRAUD, AIDING 
AND ABETTING AND CAUSING 
AN ACT TO E DONE 
( 4-11) 

18:1341,2 MAIL FRAUD, AIDING 
AND ABETTING AND CAUSING 
AN ACT TO E DONE 
(12) 

18:1341,2 MAIL FRAUD, AIDING 
AND ABETTING AND CAUSING 

Date Filed: 06/15/2016 

represented by Joel C Koury 
Law Offices of Joel C Koury 
3435 Ocean Park Boulevard Suite 107-
50 
Santa Monica, CA 90405 
424-248-8670 
Fax: 866-829-9412 
Email: jckomy@aol.com 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: CJA Appointment 

Disposition 



AN ACT TO E DONE 
(13-20) 

18:1956(h) CONSPIRACY TO 
COMMIT MONEY LAUNDERING 
(21) 

18: l 956(a)(l )(B)(i),2 MONEY 
LAUNDERING, AIDING AND 
ABETTING AND CAUSING AN ACT 
TOE DONE 
(22-27) 

18:1957, 2 ENGAGING IN 
MONETARY TRANSACTIONS 
INVOLVING PROPERTY DERIVED 
FROM SPECIFIED UNLAWFUL 
CONDUCT, AIDING AND 
ABETTING AND CAUSING AN ACT 
TOE DONE 
(28-30) 

Highest Offense Level (Opening) 

Felony 

Terminated Counts 

None 

Highest Offense Level (Terminated) 

None 

Complaints 

None 

Plaintiff 

USA 

Disposition 

Disposition 

represented by Alexander F Porter 
AUSA- Office of US Attorney 
Criminal Division - Major Frauds 
312 North Spring Street 11th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90012 
213-894-0813 
Fax: 213-894-6269 
Email: alexander.porter2@usdoj.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Assistant US Attorney 



Date Filed # 

06/15/2016 l 

06/15/2016 ± 

06/15/2016 .2 

06/15/2016 Q 

06/15/2016 2-

06/15/2016 10 

06/24/2016 11 

06/24/2016 21 

Docket Text 

George S Cardona 
AUSA- Office of US Attorney 
Chief Assistant United State Attorney 
312 North Spring Street 12th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90012-4700 
213-894-2434 
Email: USACAC.Criminal@usdoj.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Assistant US Attorney 

INDICTMENT filed as to Nick Nikbakht (1) count(s) 1-20, 21, 22-27, 28-30, 
Shawn Chait (2) count(s) 1-20, 21, 22, Oganes Doganyan (3) count(s) 1-20, 21, 
22-27, 29-30. Offense occurred in LA. (ja) (Entered: 06/20/2016) 

EX PARTE APPLICATION to Seal Case Filed by Plaintiff USA as to 
Defendant Nick Nikbakht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan. (ja) (Entered: 
06/20/2016) 

ORDER by Magistrate Judge Rozella A. Oliver granting± EXP ARTE 
APPLICATION to Seal Case as to Nick Nikbakht (1), Shawn Chait (2), 
Oganes Doganyan (3) (ja) (Entered: 06/20/2016) 

CASE SUMMARY filed by AUSA George S Cardona as to Defendant Nick 
Nikbakht; defendant's Year ofBirtb: 1972 (ja) (Entered: 06/20/2016) 

MEMORANDUM filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht, 
Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan in regards to the following Magistrate Judges: 
Jacqueline Chooljian, Patrick J. Walsh, Sheri Pym, Michael Wilner, Alka 
Sagar, Jean Rosenbluth, Douglas McCormick, Rozella Oliver (ja) (Entered: 
06/20/2016) 

. 

MEMORANDUM filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht, 
Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan. This criminal action, being filed on 6/15/16, 
was pending in the U. S. Attorneys Office before the date on which Judge 
Andre Birotte Jr began receiving criminal matters, it was not pending in the U. 
S. Attorneys Office before the date on which Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald 
began receiving criminal matters(ja) (Entered: 06/20/2016) 

EX PARTE APPLICATION for Protective Order Filed by Plaintiff USA as to 
Defendant Nick Nikbakht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan. (Attachments: # l 
Proposed Order) (Cardona, George) (Entered: 06/24/2016) 

PROOF OF SERVICE of GOVERNMENTS EXP ARTE APPLICATION 
FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER GOVERNING DISCOVERY; DECLARATION 
OF GEORGES. CARDONA; EXHIBITS; [PROPOSED] PROTECTIVE 
ORDER GOVERNING DISCOVERY, served on JUNE 24, 2016, filed by 
Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan 



re EX PARTE APPLICATION for Protective Order 11, (Cardona, George) 
(Entered: 06/24/2016) 

06/24/2016 23 PROTECTIVE ORDER GOVERNING DISCOVERY by Jndge Michael W. 
Fitzgerald: granting 11 EX PARTE APPLICATION for Protective Order as to 
Nick Nikbakht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan. (!om) (Entered: 06/27/2016) 

07/13/2016 28 MINUTES OF INDICTMENT HEARING held before Magistrate Jndge Alicia 
G. Rosenberg as to Defendant Nick Nikbald1t. Defendant states true name as 
charged. Attorney: Joel C Komy for Nick Nikbakht, Appointed, present.Court 
orders bail set as: Nick Nikbal<l1t (1) $20,000.00 Unsecured Appearance Bond, 
SEE ATTACHED BOND FOR TERMS AND CONDITIONS. Defendant 
Ordered to report to USM for processing. Court Smart: CS 7/13/16. (ja) 
(Entered: 07/15/2016) 

07/13/2016 29 STATEMENT OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS filed by Defendant Nick 
Nikbakht (ja) (Entered: 07/15/2016) 

07/13/2016 30 BOND AND CONDITIONS OF RELEASE filed as to Defendant Nick 
Nikbal<l1t conditions of release: $20,000 Unsecured Appearance Bond 
approved by Magistrate Judge Alicia G. Rosenberg. (ja) (Entered: 07/15/2016) 

07/13/2016 31 DECLARATION RE: PASSPORT filed by Defendant Nick Nikbal<llt, 
declaring that my passport and any other travel documents are in the possession 
of federal authorities. If any such document is returned to me during the 
pendency of this case, I will inunediately surrender it to the U.S. Pretrial 
Services Agency. I will not apply for a passport or other travel document 
during the pendency of this case. RE: Bond and Conditions (CR-1) 30. (ja) 
(Entered: 07/15/2016) 

07/13/2016 32 FINANCIAL AFFIDAVIT filed as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht. (Not for 
Public View pursuant to the E-Govermnent Act of 2002) (ja) (Entered: 
07/15/2016) 

07/13/2016 33 MINUTES OF POST-INDICTMENT ARRAIGNMENT: held before 
Magistrate Judge Alicia G. Rosenberg as to Defendant Nick Nikbald1t (1) 
Count 1-20,21,22-27,28-30. Defendant arraigned, states true name: As charged. 
Defendant entered not guilty plea to all counts as charged. Attorney: Joel C. 
Koury, Appointed present. Case assigned to Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald. Jmy 
Trial set for 9/6/2016 08:30 AM before Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald. Status 
Conference set for 7/25/2016 03:00 PM before Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald. 
Court Smart: 07/13/2016. (tba) (Entered: 07/15/2016) 

07/14/2016 35 Surmnons Returned Executed on 7/9/16 as to Nick Nikbakht (ja) (Entered: 
07/22/2016) 

07/20/2016 34 SCHEDULING NOTICE by Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald as to Defendant 
Nick Nikbakht. At the request of collilsel and with the approval of the Court, 
the Status Conference is continued from 7/25/16 to 8/10/2016 at 2:00PM. 
Counsel and defendant are ordered to be present at the hearing without further 
notice by the Court. THERE IS NO PDF DOCUMENT ASSOCIATED WITH 
THIS ENTRY. (rs) TEXT ONLY ENTRY (Entered: 07/20/2016) 



08/03/2016 36 SCHEDULING NOTICE by Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald as to Defendant 
Nick Nikbakht. On the Court's on motion, and with the approval of the parties, 
the Status Conference currently set for 8/10/2016 is advanced for 8/9/2016 at 
02:30 PM before Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald. THERE IS NO PDF 
DOCUMENT ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ENTRY.(jloz) TEXT ONLY 
ENTRY (Entered: 08/03/2016) 

08/08/2016 37 NOTICE of Recusal of Involvement of First Assistant United States Attorney 
Patrick R. Fitzgerald filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht, 
Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan (Cardona, George) (Entered: 08/08/2016) 

08/09/2016 38 EX PARTE APPLICATION for Disclosure Grand Jury Transcripts and 
Exhibits Filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht, Shawn Chait, 
Oganes Doganyan. (Attaclunents: # l Proposed Order) (Cardona, George) 
(Entered: 08/09/2016) 

08/09/2016 40 MINUTES OF STATUS CONFERENCE before Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald 
as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht. Case called. The Court offers recusal/remittal 
from t11e case. Government counsel filed arecusal on 8/8/2016. Defendant 
counsel is ordered to file a notice of remittal no later than 8/24/2016, or the 
case will be returned forreassigmnent. Court Reporter: Nichole Forrest. (jp) 
(Entered: 08/10/2016) 

08/10/2016 42 ORDER AUTHORIZING DISCLOSURE OF G&AND JURY MATERIALS 
IN DISCOVERY 38 by Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald iliat, subject to the terms 
of the Protective Order Regarding Discovery in place in this case (Dkt. 23 ), the 
government may disclose to counsel for defendants Nikbakht, Chait, and 
Doganyan those grand jury transcripts and exhibits that the government 
determines it appropriate to disclose as discovery in this case. (jp) (Entered: 
08/11/2016) 

08/16/2016 43 NOTICE ofRemittal filed by Defendant Nick Nikbald1t (Koury, Joel) 
(Entered: 08/16/2016) 

. 08/23/2016 50 STIPULATION to Continue Jury Trial from September 6, 2016 to December 
6, 2016 filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht (Attaclunents: # 
l Proposed Order)(Cardona, George) (Entered: 08/23/2016) 

08/25/2016 52 ORDER (1) CONTINUING TRIAL DATE AND(2) FINDING 
EXCLUDABLE TIME PERIODSPURSUANT TO SPEEDY TRIAL ACT by 
Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht, re Stipulation to 
Continue Trial 50. THEREFORE, FOR GOOD CAUSE SHOWN: The Trial 
in this matter is continued with respect to defendant NIKBAKHT from 
9/9/6/2016 to 12/6/2016 at 8:30 AM. (jp) (Entered: 08/29/2016) 

11/10/2016 63 NOTICE TO PARTIES by District Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald. Effective 
November 17, 2016, Judge Fitzgerald will be located at fue 1st Street 
Courthouse, COURTROOM SA on the 5th floor, located at 350 W. 1st Street, 
Los Angeles, California 90012. All Court appearances shall be made in 
Courtroom 5A of the 1st Street Courthouse, and all mandatory chambers copies 
shall be hand delivered to ilie judge's mail box outside. the Clerk's Office on the 
4th floor of the 1st Street Courthouse. The location for filing civil documents in 



paper format exempted from electronic filing and for viewing case files and 
other records services remains at the United States Courthouse, 312 North 
Spring Street, Room G-8, Los Angeles, California 90012. The location for 
filing criminal documents in paper format exempted from electronic filing 
remains at Edward R. Roybal Federal Building and U.S. Courthouse, 255 East 
Temple Street, Room 178, Los Angeles, California 90012. THERE IS NO PDF 
DOCUMENT ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ENTRY.(rrp) TEXT ONLY 
ENTRY (Entered: 11/10/2016) 

11122/2016 64 NOTICE of Manual Filing of Under Seal Documents 1, 2, 3 filed by Plaintiff 
USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan 
(Cardona, George) (Entered: 11/22/2016) 

11/23/2016 66 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. GP) (Entered: 
12/02/2016) 

11/23/2016 67 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. GP) (Entered: 
12/02/2016) 

11123/2016 68 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. GP) (Entered: 
12/02/2016) 

12/05/2016 69 NOTICE of Manual Filing of Under Seal Documents 1, 2, 3 filed by Plaintiff 
USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan 
(Cardona, George) (Entered: 12/05/2016) 

12/06/2016 70 SCHEDULING NOTICE by Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald as to Defendant 
Nick Nikbakht. On the Court's own motion, a Status Conference is set for 
12/15/2016 at 3:30PM before Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald. IT IS SO 
ORDERED. THERE IS NO PDF DOCUMENT ASSOCIATED WITH THIS 
ENTRY.(rs) TEXT ONLY ENTRY (Entered: 12/06/2016) . 

12/07/2016 71 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. GP) (Entered: 
12/08/2016) 

12/07/2016 72 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. GP) (Entered: 
12/08/2016) 

12/07/2016 73 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. GP) (Entered: 
12/08/2016) 

12/15/2016 75 MINUTES OF Change of Plea Hearing held before Judge Michael W. 
Fitzgerald as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht. Defendant sworn. Court questions 
defendant regarding the plea. The Defendant Nick Nikbakht (1) pleads 
GUILTY to Counts 3, 12, 21 of the Indictment. The plea is accepted. The 
Court ORDERS the preparation of a Presentence Report. Sentencing set for 
6/5/2017 at 1 :30 PM before Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald. The Jury Trial is 
hereby vacated, as to this defendant only. The defendant is ordered to return on 
this date for Sentencing. The defendants terms and conditions of bond remain 
the same. The Court orders the transcript of this proceeding sealed. Court 
Reporter: Nichole Forrest. Gp) (Entered: 12/15/2016) 

12/21/2016 76 



STIPULATION for Modification of Conditions of Release filed by Defendant 
Nick Nikbakht (Attachments: # l Proposed Order)(Komy, Joel) (Entered: 
12/21/2016) 

12/22/2016 77 ORDER TO MODIFY BOND TO ALLOW TRAVEL OUT OF THE 
CENTRAL DISTRICT FOR EMPLOYMENT 76 by Judge Michael W. 
Fitzgerald that the travel restriction in his bond forbidding Mr. Nikbakht from 
travelling out of the Central District of California is modified to allow the 
defendant to travel while employed for Uber. His travel will be limited to the 
Southern, Central, Eastern, and Northern Districts of California and the District 
ofNevada. GP) (Entered: 12/22/2016) 

05/04/2017 82 NOTICE of Manual Filing of Under Seal Documents 1, 2, 3, and 4 filed by 
Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht (Cardona, George) (Entered: 
05/04/2017) . 

05/05/2017 84 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. GP) (Entered: 
05/08/2017) 

05/05/2017 85 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. GP) (Entered: 
05/08/2017) 

05/05/2017 86 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. GP) (Entered: 
05/08/2017) 

05/05/2017 87 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 4. GP) (Entered: 
05/08/2017) 

05/05/2017 88 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. GP) (Entered: 
05/08/2017) 

05/05/2017 89 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. GP) (Entered: 
05/08/2017) 

05/05/2017 90 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. GP) (Entered: . 
05/08/2017) 

05/05/2017 21 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 4. GP) (Entered: 
05/08/2017) 

. 

09/07/2017 98 NOTICE of Under Seal Filing filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick 
Nikbakht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan (Cm·dona, Geotge) (Entered: 
09/0712017) 

09/12/2017 99 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. GP) (Entered: 
09/14/2017) 

09/12/2017 100 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. GP) (Entered: 
09/ 14/2017) 

09/12/2017 101 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. GP) (Entered: 
09/14/2017) 

09/12/2017 102 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 4. GP) (Entered: 
09/14/2017) 



09/14/2017 103 NOTICE of Manual Filing of Under Seal Documents 1tluough4 filed by 
Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbalcht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan 
(Cardona, George) (Entered: 09/14/2017) 

09/15/2017 107 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. GP) (Entered: 
09/20/2017) 

09/15/2017 108 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. GP) (Entered: 
09/20/2017) 

09/15/2017 109 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. Gp) (Entered: 
09/20/2017) 

. 

. 

09/15/2017 110 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 4. GP) (Entered: 
09/20/2017) 

. 

09/18/2017 105 NOTICE of Manual Filing of Under Seal Documents 1, 2, and 3 filed by 
Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbalcht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan 
(Cardona, George) (Entered: 09/18/2017) 

09/18/2017 111 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. GP) (Entered: 
09/20/2017) 

09/18/2017 112 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. Gp) (Entered: 
09/20/2017) 

09/18/2017 113 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. GP) (Entered: 
09/20/2017) 

12/20/2017 114 NOTICE of Manual Filing of Under Seal Documents 1tlu·ough4 filed by 
Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakht (Cardona, George) (Entered: 
12/20/201 7) 

12/21/2017 115 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. GP) (Entered: 
12/21/2017) 

12/21/2017 116 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. GP) (Entered: 
12/2112017) 

12/21/2017 117 SEALED DOCUMENT - UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. GP) (Entered: 
12/21/2017) 

12/21/2017 118 SEALED DOCUMENT c UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. GP) (Entered: 
12/21/2017) 

01/21/2018 119 NOTICE of Manual Filing of Under Seal Documents 1, 2, 3, and 4 filed by 
Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbalcht, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan 
(Cardona, George) (Entered: 01/21/2018) 

01/23/2018 120 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. GP) (Entered: 
0] /24/2018) 

01/23/2018 121 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. GP) (Entered: . 
01/24/2018) 

01/23/2018 122 



SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. GP) (Entered: 
01/24/2018) 

01/23/2018 123 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 4. GP) (Entered: 
01/24/2018) 

02/02/2018 124 Notice of Appearance or Withdrawal of Counsel: for attorney Alexander F 
Porter counsel for Plaintiff USA. Adding Alexander F. Porter as counsel of 
record for Plaintiff for the reason indicated in the G-123 Notice. Filed by 
plaintiff United States of America. (Attorney Alexander F Porter added to party 
USA(pty:pla))(Porter, Alexander) (Entered: 02/02/2018) 

02/14/2018 127 NOTICE of Manual Filing of UNDER SEAL DOCUMENTS filed by Plaintiff 
USA as to Defendant Nick Nikbakbt, Shawn Chait, Oganes Doganyan (Porter, 
Alexander) (Entered: 02/14/2018) 

02/15/2018 128 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 1. (iv) (Entered: 
02/15/2018) 

02/15/2018 129 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 2. (iv) (Entered: 
02/15/2018) 

02/15/2018 130 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 3. (iv) (Entered: 
02/15/2018) 

02/15/2018 131 SEALED DOCUMENT- UNDER SEAL DOCUMENT 4. (iv) (Entered: 
02/15/2018) 
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